**ORIGINAL** 

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

No. 72545

KENYA SPLOND Appellant,

VS.

FILED

MAR 0 8 2018

STATE OF NEVADA Respondent.

CLERK OF SUPREME COURT

DEPUTY CLERK

Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction

Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

The Honorable Elizabeth Gonzalez, District Court

#### **OPENING BRIEF**

T. AUGUSTUS CLAUS, ESQ. Legal Resource Group, LLC. Nevada Bar No. 10004 205 N. Stephanie St., Suite D221 Henderson, NV 89074 Telephone: (702) 463-4900 Fax: (702) 463-4800 Attorney for KENYA SPLOND



18-09208

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENYA SPLOND,

Supreme Court No.: 71368

Appellant,

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction pursuant to a jury verdict.

AA 5-6. As required by NRAP 28(a)(5), this case is NOT presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(1).

#### II. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a Judgment of Conviction, pursuant to a jury verdict, filed on February 13<sup>th</sup>, 2017. AA 6. A timely Notice of Appeal was filed on March 2<sup>nd</sup>, 2017. AA 6. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to NRS 177.015(3)-(4).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT REINSTITUTING THE OFFER THAT WAS NEVER CONVEYED TO APPELLANT.
- B. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING A WITNESS TO INTRODUCE UNCHARGED BAD ACTS AND SPECULATE ABOUT THE LOADED STATUS OF A HANDGUN.
- C. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FINDING THAT THERE WAS NO ILLEGAL STOP OF APPELLANT
- D. WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT IMPROPERLY RELIED ON A FLAWED PSI IN SENTENCING APPELLANT
- E. WHETHER THE CUMULATIVE EFFECT OF ERRORS VIOLATED APPELLANT'S CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHTS.

#### IV. BRIEF PROCEDURAL HISTORY AND RELEVANT FACTS

This is Appellant Kenya Splond's ("Appellant") direct appeal after the sentencing by the District Court. AA 830-844. Appellant was charged by way of criminal indictment on March 5<sup>th</sup>, 2014. AA 3. Initially, Appellant was represented by Frank Kocka. AA 277-282. After prior counsel Kocka withdrew, it appears that the Clark County Public Defender's Office was appointed for a short time until a conflict was confirmed. AA 280. Current counsel was appointed on April 22<sup>nd</sup>, 2015 due to a conflict. AA 282-283. After multiple trial settings, trial commenced on March 15<sup>th</sup>, 2016. AA 1-7.

#### a. Offer That Was Never Conveyed

Initially, Appellant was represented by Frank Kocka for purposes of negotiating the case. AA 277. Prior counsel Kocka indicated that he was having difficulty getting an offer from the State's Deputies. AA 277. Prior counsel Kocka represented Appellant until April 20<sup>th</sup>, 2015, when he withdrew because he had not been retained for trial purposes. AA 279-281. At some point before the April 20<sup>th</sup>, 2015 hearing, prior counsel Kocka indicated that he had received an offer, but "...the offer is not acceptable to my client." AA 280. There was no indication on the record, at that time, what the offer entailed. AA 279-281. Appellant was not canvassed by the Court to confirm that counsel conveyed the offer, whatever it was, or that Appellant did not wish to accept the offer. AA 279-281. The Appellant contended on the first day of jury trial, on March 15<sup>th</sup>, 2016,

that he had never received the offer from prior counsel Kocka. AA 323. At that time, the State put the previous offer on the record, which was for Appellant to "plead guilty to two robberies with use of a deadly weapon, full right to argue including for consecutive time." AA 323. After the Court confirmed that Appellant contended he did not get the offer earlier than that day at trial, the State made it clear that the offer was revoked while Mr. Kocka was counsel. AA 323-324. At that point, it was confirmed by the State that no offer had been conveyed to Appellant's current counsel. AA 325.

# b. Allowing Witness to Testify About Uncharged Crimes and The Loaded Status of Handgun

Jeffrey Haberman was called by the State to testify about the circumstances surrounding his stolen firearm and in so doing introduced evidence of another crime. AA 538-548. Appellant was not charged with the burglary or home invasion associated with Mr. Haberman's stolen firearm, but a limiting instruction was given to the jury. AA 543-544. However, the State also used Mr. Haberman to opine as to the status of the gun at the time of a picture for which Mr. Haberman had no underlying knowledge (State's Exhibit 28). AA 544-546. The Appellant properly objected at the time of the admission. AA 544. On Cross-examination, Mr. Haberman admitted that he had no knowledge the photograph (State's Exhibit

28), including when it was taken or of any surrounding circumstances of the photograph. AA 544-546.

#### c. Allowing Evidence From The Stop of Appellant.

As charged by the State, on January 22nd, 2014, the Cricket Wireless store located at 4343 N. Rancho Drive was burgled by a customer asking for a cell phone battery. AA 152. The perpetrator pointed a black firearm at Sam Echeverria and demanded money, which they received in the amount of \$386.71. AA 152. On January 28th, 2014, the Metro PCS store located at 6663 Smoke Ranch Road was burgled by a customer asking to buy a cell phone. AA 152. The perpetrator used to gun to demand money from Graciela Angeles, which they received in the amount of \$300.00. AA 152. On February 2nd, 2014, the Star Mart Convenience Store located at 5001 N. Rainbow Boulevard was burgled by a customer buying two packs of Newport 100s cigarettes and a pack of Wrigley's chewing gum. AA 152. The perpetrator pointed a gun at Brittany Slathar and demanded money, which Ms. Slathar cleverly denied him by saying that she couldn't open the cash drawer without making a sale. AA 152. While not pleased, the perpetrator ultimately escaped with two packs of cigarettes and chewing gum. AA 152.

After the Star Mart Convenience Store robbery, police were notified of the incident via an alarm company and the cash register silent alarm. AA 152. Slather called 911 and indicated that the male who robbed her had left on Rainbow Blvd.

towards "the bar next door" on foot. AA 152. There were no indications of accomplices or vehicle involvement. AA 153, 157. Based on this information, Officers observed a silver 4-door sedan leaving the area and conducted a traffic stop "for extreme damage to the rear of the vehicle and for leaving the area of the Robbery." AA 158-159. No citation appears to have been issued for the vehicle extreme damage. AA 160. Upon initiation of the traffic stop, officers observed someone under a sheet in the back of the car and ultimately took Appellant into custody. AA 158-159. During the arrest of Appellant, the cigarettes and gum associated with the Star Mart robbery were located, as well as a firearm. AA 158-159. The police never sought or received a search warrant.

#### d. PSI Used by the Court was Flawed and Inflammtory

After the jury verdict, during the course of preparing for sentencing,

Appellant's PSI became an issue. As part of the sentencing process a Presentence

Investigation Report (hereinafter "PSI) was prepared for Appellant on May 9<sup>th</sup>,

2016 (PSI #1) by the Division of Parole and Probation. *See* May 9<sup>th</sup>, 2016 PSI. A

subsequent PSI was created on June 30<sup>th</sup>, 2016 (PSI #2). See June 30<sup>th</sup>, 2016 PSI.

The differences in PSI #1 and PSI #2 included:

- PSI #1 recommended Count 2 be served concurrent with Count 1. PSI #2 recommended consecutive time.

- PSI #1 recommended Count 7 be served concurrent with Count 6. PSI #2 recommended consecutive time.
- PSI #1 recommended Count 8 be served concurrent with Count 7. PSI #2 recommended consecutive time.
- PSI #1 has a longer (and apparently inaccurate) criminal history, that is corrected in PSI #2.

There were no additional charges that were filed against Appellant from the writing of PSI #1 to PSI #2. There were no new facts that came to light and no new information was available. However, Appellant did object to the contents of PSI #1, both in terms of prior criminal history and gang affiliation, successfully removing some of that information. *See generally* PSI #1 and PSI #2. Appellant sent a subpoena to P&P requesting, in essence, to answer the question "Why the increased recommended penalty?" P&P responded to the request for documents by sending only the PSI scoring sheet, which had been created on October 27th, 2016 (neither the date of PSI #1 or #2), with no additional information supporting the changed sentencing recommendation from PSI #1 to PSI #2. AA 214-217.

Moreover, PSI #2 appeared to acknowledge that Appellant's gang affiliation was incorrect in PSI #1, but it was still included:

"Mr. Splond denied any gang involvement; however, according to information obtained from the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department, the defendant is a

member of the "Rollin 60s Crips". A booking photograph of Mr. Splond at time of classification as a gang member is the defendant brother."

PSI #2, at 3 (emphasis added).

#### V. <u>LEGAL ARGUMENT</u>

# A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY NOT REINSTITUTING THE OFFER THAT WAS NEVER CONVEYED TO APPELLANT.

"[A]s a general rule, defense counsel has the duty to communicate formal offers from the prosecution to accept a plea on terms and conditions that may be favorable to the accused." Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 133, 145, 132 S.Ct. 1399, 1408, 185 L.Ed.2d 379 (2012). "When defense counsel allowed the offer to expire without advising the defendant or allowing him to consider it, defense counsel did not render the effective assistance the Constitution requires." Id. As the Supreme Court held in Lafler v. Cooper, the Sixth Amendment is not restricted to ensuring only the right to a fair trial, but is applicable to all critical stages of criminal proceedings where the right to effective assistance of counsel is implicated. 566 U.S. 156, 165, 132 S. Ct. 1376, 1385, 182 L. Ed. 2d 398 (2012) As the Court noted "[t]he constitutional guarantee applies to pretrial critical stages that are part of the whole course of a criminal proceeding, a proceeding in which defendants cannot be presumed to make critical decisions without counsel's advice." Id (change added).

Here, Appellant's Counsel appears to have failed to relay an offer, either effectively or at all. AA 323. The District Court failed to compel the State re-offer the plea deal to Appellant. AA 323-325. The record indicates that once the issue was raised with the Court, the State made it clear that no negotiation was still available to be taken and thus the defendant could not avail himself of the deal. Id.

As the United States Supreme Court noted in Lafler, to argue that a trial wipes away any taint of unconstitutional errors "ignores the reality that criminal justice today is for the most part a system of pleas, not a system of trials." 566 U.S. at 169-70 (citing Frye, 566 U.S. at 1386). Where, as here, an error that affects a plea deal "leading to a trial and a more severe sentence, there is the question of what constitutes an appropriate remedy." Cf. Id. at 170. "Sixth Amendment remedies should be 'tailored to the injury suffered from the constitutional violation and should not unnecessarily infringe on competing interests." Id., 1388 (citing United States v. Morrison, 449 U.S. 361, 364, 101 S.Ct. 665, 66 L.Ed.2d 564 (1981)). The remedy "must 'neutralize the taint' of a constitutional violation [citation] while at the same time not grant a windfall to the defendant or needlessly squander the considerable resources the State properly invested in the criminal prosecution." Id., 170 (citations omitted).

Here, there is no theoretical prejudice, as but for the alleged error, the Appellant would have acted to secure a lesser sentence. *See* Wyeth v. Rowatt, 126 Nev. 446, 466, 244 P.3d 765, 779 (2010) ("To establish that an error is prejudicial, the movant must show that the error affects the party's substantial rights so that, but for the alleged error, a different result might reasonably have been reached."). Therefore, to remove the taint of the constitutional violation, Appellant's conviction should be reversed. Cf. Laflar, 566 U.S. at 175.

# B. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY ALLOWING THE TESTIMONY OF HABERMAN FOR THE GUN AND UNCHARGED CRIME.

The Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution provides that, "No State shall ... deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law ...." U.S. Const. amend XIV. NRS 48.045(2) also prohibits the use of evidence of "other crimes, wrongs or acts ... to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith." Such evidence "may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident." Id. However, "[T]he use of uncharged bad act evidence to convict a defendant is heavily disfavored in our criminal justice system because bad acts are often irrelevant and prejudicial and force the accused to defend against vague and unsubstantiated charges." Tavares v. State, 117 Nev. 725, 730, 30 P.3d 1128, 1131

(2001) (citing Walker v. State, 116 Nev. 442, 445, 997 P.2d 803, 806 (2000). Thus, "[a] presumption of inadmissibility attaches to all prior bad act evidence." Bigpond v. State, 128 Nev. Adv. Rep. 10, 270 P.3d 1244, 1249 (2012) (quoting Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 195, 111 P.3d 690, 697 (2005)). "[T]o overcome the presumption of inadmissibility, the prosecutor must request a hearing and establish that: (1) the prior bad act is relevant to the crime charged and for a purpose other than proving the defendant's propensity, (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence, and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Newman v. State, 129 Nev. Adv. Rep. 24, 298 P.3d 1171, 1178 (2013) (quoting Bigpond, 128 Nev. Adv. Rep. 10, 270 P.3d at 1250). Additionally, the district court "should give the jury a specific instruction explaining the purposes for which the evidence is admitted immediately prior to its admission and should give a general instruction at the end of the trial reminding the jurors that certain evidence may be used only for limited purposes." Newman, 129 Nev. Adv. Rep. 24, 298 P.3d at 1178 (quoting Tavares, 117 Nev. at 733, 30 P.3d at 1133). "[I]mproper reference to criminal history is a violation of due process since it affects the presumption of innocence; the reviewing court therefore must determine whether the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt." Manning v. Warden, 99 Nev. 82, 87, 659 P.2d 847, 850 (1983) (citing Chapman v. California, 386 U.S. 18, 24 (1967). The Nevada Supreme Court has determined that "the test for determining a reference to criminal history is whether a juror could reasonably infer from the facts presented that the accused had engaged in prior criminal activity." <u>Homick v. State</u>, 108 Nev. 127, 140, 825 P.2d 600, 608 (1992) (*quoting Manning*, 99 Nev. at 86, 659 P.2d at 850).

Jeffrey Haberman was called by the State to his firearm was stolen and that the Appellant did not have permission to have it, but elicited testimony beyond that implicating another uncharged crime. AA 538-548. Appellant was not charged with the burglary or home invasion associated with Mr. Haberman's stolen firearm, but a limiting instruction was given to the jury. AA 551-552. However, the State also used Mr. Haberman to opine as to the status of the gun at the time of a picture for which Mr. Haberman had no underlying knowledge (State's Exhibit 28). AA 543-544. Thus, Haberman testified that Appellant committed the act of home invasion and that the weapon was loaded in a photograph when he had no knowledge to so testify. Appellant was never charged with home invasion or any similar crime and Haberman's testimony amounted to an uncharged bad act. As indicated, the State failed to place Appellant on notice, but specifically sought the harmful testimony from Haberman. Additionally, the State failed to request a hearing at which it sought to overcome the presumption of inadmissibility. Therefore, the State committed misconduct and deprived Appellant of his right to due process.

Additionally, the State used Mr. Haberman to admit photographs for which he had no foundational knowledge and only served to inflame the jury by increasing the dangerousness of the offense (by the use of a loaded weapon). The evidence was a trifecta of being irrelevant and improperly admitted and prejudicial. NRS 48.015 provides "... "relevant evidence" means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more or less probable than it would be without the evidence." NRS 48.015 (2018). NRS 52.015 requires that "...authentication or identification as a condition precedent to admissibility is satisfied by evidence or other showing sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." Here, the fact that the gun may have been loaded at the time of the photograph provided no relevance to the charges at issue. Moreover, Mr. Haberman was clearly unable to provide the authentication required by NRS 52.015. Finally, the admission of the photo was prejudicial to Appellant for the reasons stated above and only served to inflame the jury concerning the dangerousness of Appellant. While autopsy photograph admission is generally upheld absent an abuse of discretion<sup>1</sup>, this case is more analogous to unauthenticated video. This Court will generally "review a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion."

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> See, e.g., <u>Browne v. State</u>, 113 Nev. 305, 314, 933 P.2d 187, 192, cert. denied, 522 U.S. 877, 118 S.Ct. 198, 139 L.Ed.2d 136 (1997); <u>Wesley v. State</u>, 112 Nev. 503, 512–13, 916 P.2d 793, 800 (1996), cert. denied, 520 U.S. 1126, 117 S.Ct. 1268, 137 L.Ed.2d 346 (1997).

Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 267, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008). Here, the district court abused its discretion because the photographs were not properly authenticated prior to their admission. See NRS 52.015(1); see also

Commonwealth v. Koch, 39 A.3d 996, 1005 (Pa.Super.Ct.2011). Additionally, the district court's error was not harmless because the photograph did not "contained factual information or references unique to the parties involved," Koch, 39 A.3d at 1004; see also Rodriguez v. State, 128 Nev. ——, 273 P.3d 845, 849 (2012) (citing approvingly to Koch), thus provided insufficient evidence to establish the identity of the author and support their authenticity, see State v. Thompson, 777 N.W.2d 617, 625–26 (N.D.2010). See, e.g., Zana v. State, 125 Nev. 541, 545 n. 3, 216 P.3d 244, 247 n. 3 (2009) (reviewing the erroneous admission of evidence for harmless error). Therefore, Appellant is entitled to relief on this ground.

## C. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY FAILING TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE FROM A IMPROPER STOP.

Even investigatory stops by police must be based on something related to what they are seeking. In the case at bar, there is no indication of any facts, other than being in the vicinity of the robbery that gave police any basis for an investigatory stop. During the hearing conducted by the District Court on suppression, the officer could not articulate any specific facts to justify the initial traffic stop. AA 395-426.

This court will uphold the district court's decision regarding suppression unless this court is "left with the definite and firm conviction that a mistake has been committed." <u>United States v. Gypsum Co.</u>, 333 U.S. 364, 395, 68 S.Ct. 525, 92 L.Ed. 746 (1948), *quoted in* <u>State v. Harnisch</u>, 113 Nev. 214, 219, 931 P.2d 1359, 1363 (1997). "'[F]indings of fact in a suppression hearing will not be disturbed on appeal if supported by substantial evidence.'" <u>Harnisch</u>, 113 Nev. at 219, 931 P.2d at 1363 (*quoting* <u>State v. Miller</u>, 110 Nev. 690, 694, 877 P.2d 1044, 1047 (1994)). "Substantial evidence is that evidence which a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion." <u>Bopp v. Lino</u>, 110 Nev. 1246, 1249, 885 P.2d 559, 561 (1994).

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