IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

KENYA SPLOND,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

Electronically Filed May 01 2018 11:46 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Case No. 72545

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

Appeal From Judgment of Conviction Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County

T. AUGUSTUS CLAUS, ESQ. Legal Resource Group, LLC Nevada Bar #010004 205 N. Stephanie St., Suite D221 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 463-4900

STEVEN B. WOLFSON Clark County District Attorney Nevada Bar #001565 Regional Justice Center 200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

Third, Appellant argues the District Court erred by failing to suppress evidence from an improper stop. However, the stop was legally justified on two independent bases. The officer had probable cause for a traffic infraction and reasonable suspicion for an investigative stop.

Fourth, Appellant contends that Parole and Probation's recommendations were inflammatory and arbitrary, causing the Court to rely on impalpable evidence and to sentence him in violation of due process. The District Court judge presided over the trial and heard the competing sentencing arguments and imposed a lawful sentence within her discretion and the statutory guidelines.

Lastly, Appellant claims there was cumulative error. Appellant has not shown there were any errors, thus there are no errors to cumulate. Therefore, the Judgment of Conviction should be affirmed.

ARGUMENT

I. APPELLANT'S CLAIM OF INEFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL REGARDNG A PRIOR OFFER IS IMPROPERLY BROUGHT ON DIRECT APPEAL

Appellant alleges that the District Court erred in not reinstituting a prior offer to Appellant. AOB at 2, 7. Appellant contends that he never received the prior offer

from the State because his prior defense counsel, Frank Kocka, never communicated the offer to him. AOB at 2. Appellant is essentially alleging an ineffective assistance of counsel claim in regards to his prior defense counsel, Frank Kocka, which is an inappropriate claim to be brought on direct appeal. Pellegrini v. State, 117 Nev. 860, 863, 34 P.3d 519, 534 (2001). Further, Appellant relies on Missouri v. Frye, 566 U.S. 133, 145, 132 S.Ct. 1299, 1408 (2012), and Lafler v. Cooper, 566 U.S. 156, 165, 132 S.Ct. 1376, 1385 (2012) to support his arguments. However, both <u>Frye</u> and Lafler, address a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to effective assistance of counsel. Therefore, this claim is inappropriately raised on direct appeal. Additionally, Appellant does not cite any legal authority or make any legal arguments as to why this claim should be brought on direct appeal instead of through post-conviction. Thus, this claim should be denied.

Appellant never objected or demanded the offer be retendered. Thus, this claim is waived. Dermody v. City of Reno, 113 Nev. 207, 210-11, 931 P.2d 1354, 1357 (1997); Guy v. State, 108 Nev. 770, 780, 839 P.2d 578, 58 (1992), cert. denied, 507 U.S. 1009, 113 S. Ct. 1656 (1993); Davis v. State, 107 Nev. 600, 606, 817 P.2d 1169, 1173 (1991).

As such, this complaint is reviewable only for plain error. Martinorellan v. State, 131 Nev. ___, __, 343 P.3d 590, 593 (2015); Maestas v. State, 128 Nev. ___, ___, 275 P.3d 74, 89 (2012); Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003); Patterson v. State, 111 Nev. 1525, 1530, 907 P.2d 948, 987 (1995); Ford v. Warden, 111 Nev. 872, 884, 901 P.2d 123, 130 (1995). Plain error review asks:

To amount to plain error, the 'error must be so unmistakable that it is apparent from a casual inspection of the record." <u>Vega v. State</u>, 126 Nev. ___, ___, 236 P.3d 632, 637 (2010) (quoting <u>Nelson</u>, 123 Nev. at 543, 170 P.3d at 524). In addition, "the defendant [must] demonstrate [] that the error affected his or her substantial rights, by causing 'actual prejudice or a miscarriage of justice." <u>Valdez</u>, 124 Nev. at 1190, 196 P.3d at 477 (quoting <u>Green v. State</u>, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003))). Thus, reversal for plain error is only warranted if the error is readily apparent and the appellant demonstrates that the error was prejudicial to his substantial rights.

Martinorellan, 131 Nev. at ___, 343 P.3d at 594.

Appellant's claim that his defense counsel never told him of the State's offer is contradicted by the record and thus cannot establish plain error. On Tuesday, March 15, 2016, the first day of trial, counsel for Appellant, the Court, and the State had the following exchange:

MR. PALAL: Okay. Yes to previous counsel, Mr. Kocka, an offer was made. It was to plead guilty to two robberies with use of a deadly weapon, full right to argue including for consecutive time. I think that was, though, some time ago and to be perfectly frank with the Court, Mr. Lexis and I are relatively new on this case so we don't have that time line—

THE COURT: Well, let me ask Mr. Splond, did you get that offer, sir, earlier?

DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: No?

DEFENDANT: No.

THE COURT: Then I'll let you take [sic] to Mr. Claus about it. Remember, the decision is always yours, not anybody else's.

MR. PALAL: And Your Honor, to be clear, I believe that offer was revoked while Mr. Kocka was counsel, I think, well over a year ago.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PALAL: And is no longer outstanding?

THE COURT: So there's no current offer?

MR. PALAL: There's no current offer.

THE COURT: And when do you think the offer was made [sic] Mr. Kocka since Mr. Splond never recalls receiving it? Now, I should make a record.

MR PALAL: I believe it was made in 2014, but I will have to—I will have to confer with the original—the deputy who made the original offer.

THE COURT: Okay. And when, is ever, was that offer formally withdrawn?

MR. PALAL: I also believe in the beginning of 2015, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And why do you think that?

MR. PALAL: My communications with the original deputy which is Ms. Lexis. But I will confer—

THE COURT: Okay. So, Sir, if you never got that offer from your other attorney, I apologize. They are telling me

now it is withdrawn. So at this point they are not making an offer of any sort if sounds like to you. So I guess we'll just go ahead and proceed and then deal with whatever issues there may be later if there are any.

MR. CLAUS: Yeah. And I don't think there's any disagreement, Your Honor, that no offer was every conveyed to me or conveyed to Mr. Splond.

MR. PALAL: That's correct.

MR. LEXIS: And Your Honor, according to the minutes in C296374, Department 11, on September 15th, 2014,--

THE COURT: Okay. I'm going, hold on, I'm not as fast as you.

MR. LEXIS: Okay.

THE COURT: And this was in front of Judge Smith that day. Ms. Lexis stated she previously conveyed an offer which involved both cases; however, counsel did not like the offer. The request of Mr. Kocka, Court ordered matter continued. So there may have been some discussion about that offer because it looks like it was continued to October 1st for the same issue to be discussed. And that was again in front of Judge Smith. Mr. Kocka advised matter not resolved.

MR. LEXIS: That's correct, Your Honor. And according to Ms. Lexis that's when the offer was revoked and there is no offer at this time.

THE COURT: Okay. So now you get to decide which tie you like better. After the cases were consolidated, was another offer made or was it only prior to the consolidation?

MR. PALAL: It was prior to the consolidation, Your Honor.

THE COURT: But the representation, at least from the minutes, looks like it was to both cases at the time the offer was made, prior to consolidation.

MR. PALAL: That's correct.

2 AA 323- 326.

Previously, on April 20, 2015, Mr. Kocka and Judge Smith had the following exchange:

THE COURT: Hey. Is this case resolved?

MR. KOCKA: It is not, Your Honor. *I did receive an offer on the case; the offer is not acceptable to my client.* So at this point, Your Honor, I don't know if you want me to do it formally in writing or you'll accept it orally, but I'm going to have to get him over to the PD's office because he wants to go to trial.

2 AA 280 (emphasis added).

Further the Court minutes from April 20, 2015, state:

Mr. Kocka stated he received an offer of settlement; however, it was unacceptable to his client. At the request of Mr. Kocka, COURT ORDERED, counsel WITHDRAWN and ORDERED, matter SET for status check. Ms. Hojjat to run a conflict check.

Respondent's Appendix (hereinafter "RA") 1. Moreover, the Court minutes reflect that Appellant was present on April 20, 2015. <u>Id</u>. Thus, he heard the response his attorney gave to the Court and did not object to his attorney's representations.

Therefore Appellant's claim that his counsel never informed him of the offer is contradicted by the record and cannot substantiate a claim of plain error.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ALLOWING ADMISSIBLE EVIDENCE

This Court generally reviews a district court's decision to admit evidence for an abuse of discretion. Hernandez v. State, 124 Nev. 639, 188 P.3d 1126 (2008); see e.g. Mclellan v. State, 124 Nev. 263, 182 P.3d 106, 109 (2008) ("We review a district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence for an abuse of discretion."). District courts have considerable discretion in admitting or excluding evidence. Holmes v. State, 129 Nev. ____, 306 P.3d 415 (2013). Reversal is warranted only were the decision is "manifestly wrong." Id. (quoting Archanian v. State, 122 Nev. 1019, 1029, 145 P.3d 1008, 1016 (2006)).

Appellant contends that Haberman introduced evidence of a crime Appellant was not charged with, burglary or home invasion of Haberman's home. AOB at 3. Further, that the State failed to request a hearing to introduce the prior bad act evidence to overcome the presumption of inadmissibility. AOB at 11.

Next, Appellant alleges that Haberman gave an improper opinion regarding the status of the gun in State's Exhibit #28. AOB at 3. Appellant argues that Haberman had no foundational knowledge to authenticate, the testimony was irrelevant, and prejudicial. AOB at 12.

A. Introduction of Alleged Uncharged Prior Bad Act of Burglary or Home Invasion

As an initial matter, the State notes that Appellant did not raise an objection to the admission of the alleged prior bad act of burglary or home invasion, and therefore all but plain error is waived. Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210-211, 931 P.2d at 1357; Guy, 108 Nev. at 780, 839 P.2d at 578 (1992); Davis, 107 Nev. at 606, 817 P.2d at 1173. This Court has consistently reaffirmed that "[t]he failure to specifically object on the grounds urged on appeal preclude[s] appellate consideration on the grounds not raised below." <u>Pantano v. State</u>, 122 Nev. 782, 795 n. 28, 138 P.3d 477, 486 n. 28 (2006) (quotation omitted). Moreover, appellate review requires that the district court be given a chance to rule on the legal and constitutional questions involved. Lizotte v. State, 102 Nev. 238, 239-40, 720 P.2d 1212, 1214 (1986). Where an appellant fails to preserve an issue on appeal, this Court reviews the issue for plain error. Green v. State, 119 Nev. 542, 545, 80 P.3d 93, 95 (2003). Appellant never raised a prior bad act objection below, or argued for a Petrocelli hearing, but raises the issue for the first time now on appeal without giving the District Court the opportunity to rule on the legal issue.

Appellant fails to address that proving possession of stolen property, was part of the State's burden in this case. As such, the testimony of Jeffrey Haberman (hereinafter "Haberman") was necessary because he was the owner of the stolen gun. The Amended Criminal Indictment read:

Count 4 - Possession of Stolen Property. Defendant Kenny Splond, aka Kenya Splond, did, willfully, unlawfully, and

feloniously for his own gain, possess property wrongfully taken from Jeffrey Bruce Haberman, to wit: Colt 38 revolver serial #941609, which Defendant knew, or had reason to believe, had been stolen.

1 AA 83; 1 AA 163.

The following exchange took place with the State and Haberman on direct examination:

Q: Sir, I'm showing you State's 29. Is that the firearm the gun registration was referring to?

A: Yes, sir, it is.

Q: Tell me exactly how it was stolen.

A: I came home one day, the back door has been pry—my patio door had been pried open. Somebody entered the house, stole the entire gun safe, ripped the front—I had a double dead bolt on the front door. That was ripped out of the door and then went right out. There's still drag marks on the concrete from the safe.

Q: You know a person named Kenny Splond?

A: No, sir.

Q: Have you even seen that man before?

A: I don't believe so.

Q: Did you ever give that man permission to go in your house?

A: No, sir.

Q: Did you ever give that man permission to borrow your firearm?

A: No, sir.

Q: Did you ever give permission for anyone to have this gun at issue?

A: No, sir.

3 AA 542-543.

This line of questioning was necessary for the jury to understand that the firearm was in fact stolen. It was not used to infer to the jury that Appellant was the

one who burglarized Haberman's home. Although Appellant states that "Haberman testified that Appellant committed the act of home invasion," the State did not allege or argue that Appellant was the alleged perpetrator that stole the gun safe. AOB at 11. The State reiterated it was not arguing that Appellant stole the firearm in closing arguments. The State said the following during closing argument:

How about the firearm? Jeffrey Haberman. Folks, we're not alleging that he stole the firearm. We're not charging him with stealing the firearm. We're charging him with possession of stolen property.

4 AA 764.

Further, Instruction #23 stated:

Any person who possesses a stolen firearm and either knows the firearm is stolen or possess the firearm under such circumstances as should have caused a reasonable person to know the firearm is stolen, is guilty of Possession of Stolen Property.

1 AA 185.

Thus, Haberman testifying to the fact that his gun was stolen did not constitute inadmissible prior bad act evidence. It was proper evidence regarding the Possession of Stolen Property charge. Further, the Court issued a limiting instruction. 3 AA 548-552. The instruction stated:

Evidence was introduced by the State of other crimes that the Defendant is not charged with. Evidence that someone committed a burglary at the home of Mr. Haberman was not received and may not be considered by you to prove that Defendant had any involvement in that burglary. Such information was received and may be considered by you only for the limited purpose of proving the weapon was stolen. That information cannot be used by you in determining the guilt of the Defendant in this case. You must weigh this evidence in the same manner as you do all other evidence in this case.

3 AA 558. This instruction was read to the jury, and it was also included as Instruction #22. 3 AA 558; 1 AA 184.

Evidence is not a prior bad act unless the evidence elicited speaks to chargeable collateral offenses. See Salgado v. State, 114 Nev. 1038, 1042-43, 968 P.2d 324, 326-27 (1998) (explaining that cases in which the evidence does not implicate prior bad acts or collateral offense on the defendant's part, a Petrocelli hearing is not required); Colon v. State, 113 Nev. 484, 494, 938 P.2d 714, 720 (1997) (Petrocelli hearing not required when State elicited testimony that defendant knew where marijuana was grown in her building, associated with drug dealers and bailed known drug user out of jail). Thus, the testimony elicited from Haberman did not constitute uncharged prior bad act evidence. Therefore, a Petrocelli hearing was unnecessary and was not warranted in this case. Furthermore, Appellant fails to meet his burden that this unpreserved claim rises to the level of plain error or affected his substantial rights. Thus, Appellant's claim should be denied.

B. Picture of Haberman's Gun, State's Exhibit #28

At trial, Appellant objected on the grounds of foundation when the State moved to admit State's Proposed Exhibit #28, which Haberman described as "[m]y

colt with four rounds in it." 3 AA 544. Defense counsel again objected to the admission of the photograph at the end of his cross-examination and also asked the Court for an admonition to the jury. 3 AA 547.

Relevance and Prejudice

Appellant raises relevance and unfair prejudice claims against State's Exhibit #28, for the first time on appeal.¹ Appellant did not offer a contemporaneous objection regarding relevance or unfair prejudice during trial, and therefore all but plain error is waived. Dermody, 113 Nev. at 210-11, 931 P.2d at 1357; Guy, 108 Nev. at 780, 839 P.2d at 578; Davis v. State, 107 Nev. at 606, 817 P.2d at 1173.

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